1959

# Nathan G. Chugg v. Dale Chugg and La Beta Chugg : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Plaintiff appeals from the judgment and decree of the Trial Court in these, that the Court erred in these:

1. In finding that Nathan G. Chugg was mentally and legally competent to sign the Option, the Deeds and the Bill of Sale, or any of them.
2. In finding the Option valid.
3. In finding that Nathan G. Chugg executed and delivered to defendant a valid Deed and Bill of Sale.
4. In finding that Nathan G. Chugg executed and delivered to defendants, for value, or at all, a valid deed on June 24, 1957, or at any other time.
5. In finding that defendants did not use fraud, undue influence, trickery, or take advantage of confidence reposed in them by Nathan G. Chugg in obtaining said or any of said instruments.

**6. In making conclusions of law, viz:**

(1) That the Complaint of the plaintiff be dismissed, no cause for action.

(2) That the Option of January 31, 1957, the Deed and Bill of Sale of June 24, 1957, and the Deed of July 17, 1957, are, and that either of them is good or valid or binding, and that any interest that Nathan G. Chugg had in any of the property described in said instruments, either legal or equitable, passed to Dale J. Chugg or La Reta Chugg by said instruments.

**7. In ordering, adjudging and decreeing—**

(a) That plaintiff's Complaint be dismissed and dismissing the same, "No Cause for Action".

(b) That defendant, Dale J. Chugg, is the owner of any and all interest, legal or equitable, which Nathan G. Chugg had in the property described in the Option dated the 31st day of January, 1957, executed by Nathan G. Chugg and covering the property described in said subparagraph of the Judgment.

(c) That defendant, Dale J. Chugg, is the owner of any and all interest, legal or equitable, which Nathan G. Chugg had in any and all of the property referred to in paragraphs B and C of said Decree.

(d) In ordering, adjudging and decreeing that said Option, Bill of Sale and Deeds, or any of them, are good, valid and binding.

(e) In adjudging that plaintiff pay his costs.

**The record on appeal is in five parts, viz:**

- 1. The Court's file with index.**
- 2. Transcript of testimony in two volumes.**

3. Exhibits of Plaintiff, with index, (in separate envelope).
4. Exhibits of Defendant, with index, (in separate envelope).
5. The Clerk's Exhibit Sheet.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Cause was tried before Judge Charles G. Cowley, without a jury, in the District Court of Weber County.

The issues joined and tried were as to the mental competency of Nathan G. Chugg to make a valid option and deed conveying real estate, and the practise of fraud, undue influence and trickery upon him.

The Court found for the defendant upon both issues.

### The Parties

Nathan G. Chugg was upwards of 63 years of age at the time of these transactions. He had never married and has no issue.

He operated a dairy farm at Farr West in Weber County, Utah.

The land comprising the farm is in four tracts totaling 72.90 acres, more or less.

Title to the First Tract, (described in the Complaint) containing 9.97 acres, (less 0.54 acre conveyed away) was conveyed to Nathan G. Chugg by Zenia V. Chugg, his mother. The deed reserved a life estate in the grantor, Zenia V. Chugg. It has never been released and she is in being. (Tr. 127)

The dwelling house and dairy barn and other improvements are on this tract.

The Second Tract, containing 10.03 acres was likewise deeded by Zenia V. Chugg to Nathan G. Chugg, with a life estate reserved to Zenia V. Chugg. (Tr. 127).

Title to the Third Tract, containing 41.9 acres was in Nathan G. Chugg. (Tr. 128)

Title to the Fourth Tract, containing 11 acres was and is vested in Zenia V. Chugg. (Tr. 130)

The mother, Zenia V. Chugg, who is 92 years old, has lived there, continuously for upwards of 75 years, except for a brief interval. The mother moved out of the house when Dale Chugg was hired by Nathan, and moved in with his family.

The furniture and furnishings in the house belong to the mother.

(When it was discovered that Dale Chugg claimed ownership of the home and land, a separate suit by Zenia V. Chugg against Dale Chugg for possession of these premises and the furnishings and to quiet her title was commenced. The suit has gone to judgment in favor of Zenia V. Chugg.)

On July 3, 1956, Nathan G. Chugg made his last will and testament. Exhibit ..... It was prepared by his attorney, Ira A. Huggins, and witnessed by Rita Stoddard and D. Gordon Huggins. This instrument provides:

SECOND: I hereby declare that I am an unmarried man; that my mother, Mrs. Zenia V. Chugg, is still living and is of the age of 90 years, and that I have the following brothers and sisters: Orley J. Chugg, Myrtle C. Leatham, Ray R. Chugg, Mable C. Powelson, Maude C. Foster, Vera C. Payton and Iva C. Bown; that my mother and I have resided together at my farm in Farr West, Weber County, Utah, for many years; she has been very kind and considerate to me and I have done my best to make

life pleasant for her, she having been a widow for many years, and it is my desire, in the event she survives me, to make provision for her of my own volition and in keeping therewith I hereby provide that my executor, hereinafter named, shall pay to her from my estate the sum of \$200.00 or so much thereof as may be necessary to provide for her care and support during the remainder of her life time, said sum payable monthly.

THIRD: It is my desire to remember each of my brothers and sisters equally in the distribution of my estate since I love each of them equally and I do not desire to favor either or any of them over either or any of the others; therefore, all of the rest, residue and remainder of my estate, both real, personal and mixed and wheresoever located, of which I shall die possessed or in which I shall have any interest, I hereby give, devise and bequeath in equal shares, share and share alike, unto my brothers and sisters, as follows, to-wit: Orley J. Chugg, Myrtle C. Leatham, Ray R. Chugg, Mable C. Powellson, Maude C. Foster, Vera C. Payton and Iva C. Bown, provided that in the event that either or any of my said brothers or sisters shall precede me in death leaving legal issue him, her or them surviving, then and in that event I hereby provide that such legal issue shall take the share in equal shares, share and share alike, that their father or mother would have received under the terms hereof had such parent survived me.

FOURTH: I hereby further declare that I have spent the greater part of my life in the acquisition and development of a farm with the necessary buildings and improvements, at Farr West, in Weber County, Utah, and a herd of purebred Jersey cattle, the individual members of which I have carefully selected and obtained through careful breeding over a long period of years, and in my opinion said farm with the buildings and improvements and the herd of cattle aforesaid, should remain intact as a complete operating unit and I, therefore, provide that all of said property shall



be sold by my executor as an operating unit and the same kept intact and the proceeds therefrom disposed of as hereinabove specifically set forth.

The oldest brother, Orley J. Chugg is named executor. In the event he should not qualify, Maude C. Foster, a sister, is named as executrix, to serve without bond.

Dale Chugg, the defendant, (Tr. 391) was ..... years of age, a second cousin of Nathan G. Chugg, and married, with one child, and his wife expecting.

He was employed by Nathan G. Chugg to help on the farm, and then after several months, the family took the mother, Zenia Chugg away from her home, and Dale and his family moved in with Nathan.

Orley J. Chugg took the mother on a trip to California about January 22, 1957. Mrs. Foster came and helped Dale's wife clean up the house. (Tr. 404)

Two or three days after they moved in, "Nate" was "not feeling well", so Dale took him to see Doctor Moncrief. (Tr. 404)

(Dr. Moncrief was at the same time Dale's physician, caring for his wife through birth of a child.)

The doctor directed that he be taken to the hospital. (Tr. 405)

He was admitted to St. Benedict's Hospital January 29, 1957, at 2:45 P.M. This was a "Re-admit". (St. Benedict's Summary Sheet).

## HOW THE OPTION WAS SECURED

The patient bethought himself of his income tax, and returned home to get his papers. His income tax man was a Mr. Erickson, with offices in the Eccles Building. He had a son in the same profession in the same suite.

Dale Chugg testified—(Tr. 405)—“We (Dale and Nathan) went up there and, of course, Nate took care of his income tax matters and told Mr. Erickson to fix up an instrument so Dale would get the farm to protect him.” (Tr. 405)

And further Dale Chugg testified—(Tr. 406)—“Well Mr. Erickson told him it was a little complicated for him, and Nate told him, Helmer said it would have to be done by a lawyer. Nate said, ‘I’ve got to go to the hospital right now.’ Mr. Erickson said ‘I will get it taken care of and we will bring it up to the hospital for you to sign.’ Nate said, ‘That will be O. K.’ \* \* \* \* “Yes, Helmer asked him how he wanted it fixed up, or what was the price. He said ‘Just anything to make it legal for Dale.’” (Tr. 407)

Dale took him to the hospital. He was admitted to St. Benedicts Hospital in Ogden on January 29, 1957. (St. Benedicts Chart—Plaintiff’s Exhibit “B”).

Dale Chugg testified he returned to the Erickson office. (Tr. 407)

Attorneys Dale Browning and George B. Handy had their offices in the Eccles Building. Mr. Browning was Erickson’s attorney. He was not in, or was busy, and Dale Chugg and Erickson went to Handy’s office.

Dale Chugg further testified:

“Mr. Erickson’s boy, Elgreed \* \* \* \* told Mr. Handy *to fix up something that would protect me and wanted me to have the farm and then the instrument; I think Mr. Handy drew up an option.*”

He testified that “After it was drawn up, well, Mr. Handy gave it to me and I went up and showed it to Nate and read it to him. \* \* \* \*

"He just said, that would be fine. \* \* \* \* that would protect me." (Tr. 408)

Dale Chugg further testified that "The next day Mr. Handy and myself and his brother, (Donald Handy) went up and Nate signed the option." (Tr. 408)

It further appears, (Tr. 408-409) that at this time the spaces for the consideration, for the option, and the price to be paid for the property were both *blank*.

"Mr. Handy said, 'What do you want, a \$1.00, a \$1,000.00 or \$10.00?' He said, 'Well, make it a \$1,000.00 on the option'." (Tr. 408)

He testified that no money was transferred at that time. (Tr. 408). On further question by his counsel, he testified:

"For consideration, I think I gave him \$10.00." (Tr. 409)

## THE INSTRUMENTS OF TITLE

Four instruments of Title are produced from defendant, viz:

(1) Def's Ex. 6—Option bearing date January 31, 1957, acknowledged before George B. Handy.

(2) Def's Ex. 4—Warranty Deed bearing date *blank* day of February, 1957. Acknowledged before George B. Handy on *blank* day of February, 1957.

(3) Def's Ex. 5—Bill of Sale, written for signature "this ..... day of February, 1957"—"24" written in blank for day and "February" scratched out and "June" written under.

(4) Def's Ex. 3—Warranty Deed bearing date July 17, 1957, witnessed by La Reta Chugg and George Handy,

and acknowledged before George B. Handy, Notary, on July 17, 1957.

They were all prepared by Mr. Handy, acting as attorney for Dale Chugg.

A glance at the typewriting of these instruments permits of a conclusion that the option, (Def's Ex. 6) and the Deed of July 17, 1957, (Def's Ex. 3) were written upon the same typewriter and, with the same ribbon; whereas it strikes the eye that the Warranty Deed bearing date the .....day of February, 1957, (Def's Ex. 4), and the Bill of Sale typed for "this ..... day of February, 1957", (Def's Ex. 5) were written upon the same typewriter as Exhibits 3 and 6, but with a new ribbon!

The testimony of Mr. Handy, touching the preparation and execution of the four instruments, in the light of what the eye sees, merits this reference. (Tr. 650-669).

Further the "Option" recites that it is given "subject to the life estate in favor of Zenia V. Chugg", but neither the Warranty Deed of ".....day of February, 1957", nor the Warranty Deed of "17th day of July, 1957" contained any such reservation or limitation.

All of the signing—the Option, the Bill of Sale and *two* Warranty Deeds (to the same premises) were all composed by Mr. Handy, as attorney for Dale Chugg, the beneficiary of the instruments.

The "consideration" for the Option was \$10.00, the price for the real estate was \$1,000.00. The price for the personal property— "60 head of Registered Jersey Cattle, (35 cows, 14 heifers, 1 bull, 10 calves)" and a long list of farm equipments and "miscellaneous furniture", (apparently belonging to mother Chugg) and to be sure nothing was left out Mr. Handy wrote into this instrument these words,

*"In fact, everything I possess of whatsoever name or nature belonging to me and now in my possession at my farms."*

(Def's Ex. 4)

under the Bill of Sale was "One Dollar and the other valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged."

#### AS TO THE COMPETENCY OF NATHAN G. CHUGG

Physicians, specializing in nervous and mental diseases and hospital charts called by the Plaintiff:

SISTER DAVIDANNE, Medical Records' Librarian at St. Benedicts Hospital in Ogden, produced and identified the hospital record or chart of Nathan G. Chugg for January 27, 1957 to June 23, 1957. Exhibit "B". (Tr. 121-125)

DOCTOR WILLIAM D. O'GORMAN of Ogden, Utah, a physician specializing in nervous and mental diseases, called by the plaintiff, testified: (Tr. 162-168 Direct; Tr. 168-180 Cross; Tr. 180-181 Re-direct.)

Licensed in Montana, Nebraska, New Jersey and Utah, and by the American Board of Neurology and Psychiatry; this specialty in Ogden and vicinity for ten years.

He made an examination and study of the chart and clinical record of Nathan G. Chugg in the St. Benedicts Hospital, and particularly on or about the 31st day of January, 1957.

From this examination he formed an opinion of the mental capacity of the patient named, and testified:

"A. The conclusion that I would draw would be first of all from the clinical history as presented, the laboratory findings, the nurses' reports, that are written daily, in my opinion when Mr. Chugg was admitted to the St. Benedict Hospital on January 29th, he was a very sick person suffering from

a uremia secondary to the obstruction in the kidneys first from a kidney disturbance primarily a nephrosclerosis and secondly from an obstructive disturbance from an enlarged prostate. Laboratory results that were routine in the hospital on his admission revealed a noticeable uremia as well as an extremely high blood ureanitrogen which is the measurement of the accumulation of toxic products in the blood. The nurses' notes record that he was involuntary bladder and bowels, irritable, lethargic, dozing, did not converse, and appeared unable to comprehend. As to his mental status at that time I would think that he was quite a disturbed person and would agree, in view of the laboratory findings, and the observation of those who were noticing him, that he was quite a mentally disturbed person as well. A neurological examination revealed one important finding at the time and that was the fact that at the time his right pupil was smaller than the left and reacted sluggishly. That is not an uncommon finding in severe toxic reactions of the central nervous system, or the possibility too of having had a vascular disturbance in the brain which is a frequent finding too in uremia. In following the case from a laboratory point of view, there was persistence of severe enema in spite of transfusions that he had, the blood chemistry was quite markedly disturbed. His hospital course was slow and indicated a considerable degree of disturbance and that persisted until shortly before he was discharged in February and when he was readmitted later again, he was very disturbed and then he became a little bit more alert before he was discharged the second time in June.

Q. I show you what I have had marked plaintiff's exhibit E, an instrument called "option" apparently having been signed by Nathan Chugg January 31, 1957. An examination of this instrument indicates that for a dollar and other valuable consideration which included one thousand dollars, an option for ten years was given from the date of this option to the purchaser, one Dale J. Chugg, of various tracts of land described particularly including

all water rights and other items, and subject to a life estate of *Zena Y. Chugg* with a recital, inasmuch as there are other considerations for the sale of the above-said property other than the stated sale price, the stated sale price is not intended to be adequate or to represent the true value of said property. State whether or not you have an opinion and have formed an opinion from that record as to whether or not this man at that time was capable of understanding the nature and significance of that document.

A. In my opinion, I do not think he would be able to understand the nature and significance of a document as complicated as this seems to be, particularly at that time where there was such a disturbance that was systemic as well as dealing with the central nervous system.

Q. There has been produced here in evidence a clinical record of the Veterans Hospital both the 12th Street and Fort Douglas concerning this same person Nathan G. Chugg. I show it to you as it has been produced here and marked plaintiff's exhibit B, have you had occasion to examine this chart?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And have you made an analysis of it similar to what you have from the other to inform yourself as to whether or not you can form an opinion and do have an opinion as to the mental capacity of this same person on the 17th day of July 1957?

A. Yes.

Q. Will you state to the court what you have considered, what your opinion is?

A. The records of the V. A. Hospital reveal Mr. Chugg to have continued with his disturbance of uremia, the same diagnosis applied, that of a hypertrophied prostate nephrosclerosis. The nurses' notes indicated he persisted in being apathetic, lethargic, involuntary, these reactions would fluctuate somewhat but about July which was the last record of the nurse dealing with psychiatric and

neurological things, it was expressed that he was very depressed. A laboratory examination of blood chemistry on the 15th of July 1957 revealed an elevated blood urea nitrogen of 54. In my opinion, Mr. Chugg's condition continued to be as severe, the uremia persisted and I would continue to think that he would not be in a position to know the nature of what he was doing entirely in detail during that time. From the record there were indications of a progressive deterioration of the brain from the time he was admitted to the time he was released from the 12th Street Hospital where he then went to the psychiatric hospital at Fort Douglas and was put on a closed section because his behaviour was such that they couldn't handle him on an open service. In my opinion this continues to be a severe toxic brain syndrome.

Q. I call your attention to Plaintiff's exhibit C which is a form of warranty deed by Nathan G. Chugg to Dale J. Chugg and reciting a consideration of one dollar and describing various tracts of land and executed on July 17, 1957.

From your examination of the record, have you an opinion as to whether or not on this day that this man was capable mentally of understanding the nature of this transaction, and competent to make this conveyance?

A. In my opinion, I don't think he was competent to know the nature of a complicated document like that, on the date that you mention, the 17th of July.

Q. 1957?

A. 1957.

---

And on cross examination Dr. O'Gorman testified:

Q. Do you have any opinion as to how far back this mental degeneration goes?

A. I would make, judging again from my observation, not necessarily this record that is pre-



sented here, there is one previous to this, I think he would show some sign of this uremic disorder in 1956.

Q. This uremic disorder. That effects his kidneys, does it?

A. I think uremia is secondary to the disturbance, the urinary system, the kidneys and obstruction in the urinary tract.

Q. That has nothing to do with your strokes?

A. In uremia there may be vascular accidents.

Q. That does not indicate there was, though, does it, though he did have uremic trouble?

A. No.

Q. And these vascular accidents you are talking about, they don't effect all people the same way, do they?

A. No.

And he testified that from a record of this patient covering a prior period in the hospital, that some sign of this uremic disorder would show in 1956.

And that this disorder does effect the mind. "It may not be evident to the average person, but in some of the fine discriminations you can see it." "I think it does affect the mind." (Tr. 174)

"He was a very disturbed person, physically and mentally."

"On the 29th of January, 1957, the patient was given secanol. That would make him lethargic."

He gave further emphasis to his opinion upon re-cross examination. (Tr. 179-181)

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