1959

# Nathan G. Chugg v. Dale Chugg and La Beta Chugg : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Nathan G. Chugg, who is referred to in the transcript as Nathan and Nate, is a bachelor of approximately 63 years of age, who has lived in Farr West, Weber County, Utah, all of his life and operated a dairy farm and lived there with his mother, being her sole support, and had been for more than 40 years, (Tr. 397) and his sole interest in life seemed to be his farm, his herd of registered dairy cattle and hunting and fishing. (Tr. 602-603 & 679.)

He was, by nature, quiet, (Tr. 393,302) slow to respond, (Tr. 240,459) slow in expressing himself, (Tr. 240) not very talkative (Tr. 262) and considered to be a good businessman, (Tr. 24-25).

Nathan Chugg, for some years prior to the summer of 1956 had been desirous of having someone come onto the farm and help him with the burdens of farm work and had stated that if he could find such a person, he would give him the farm when he was through with it. (*Tr.* 240, 484, 603, 679).

In the summer of 1956 Nathan Chugg approached the defendant, Dale Chugg, about helping Nathan Chugg on his farm and with his farm work.

Dale Chugg is a young man in his twenties, who is the son of a cousin of Nathan Chugg, and who, for 21 years had lived about a half mile down the road from Nathan Chugg's farm and during the boyhood and young manhood of Dale Chugg, Dale was a constant visitor of Nathan Chugg's farm, helped Nathan in his farm work, helped to prepare dairy cattle for shows and County Fairs and went hunting and fishing with Nathan. "Well, they would go duck hunting, and they would go through the fields all the time with their dogs." (*Tr.* 263-264, 293-294-295).

On four occasions in August, 1956, Nathan Chugg approached Dale Chugg with the proposition that if Dale would move into the farm home with Nathan when Nathan could make the home available to Dale, care for Nathan and his cattle and relieve Nathan of much of the burden of the farm and the farm work, that when Nathan was done with the farm, he would give the farm and livestock to Dale. As Dale Chugg was working at that time for his father, John Chugg, Nathan also approached John Chugg and related the proposition that Nathan had made to Dale. (*Tr.* 268-269-270-271). John Chugg asked Na-

than if he didn't want to discuss the matter with his older brother, Orley J. Chugg, and the family first, and was informed "I don't owe Orley or the family one cent". (Tr. 269). John Chugg asked Nathan if he would put the agreement in writing to protect Dale and Nathan replied that he would do anything that was agreeable, that he would change his Will or do anything that was necessary to protect Dale. (Tr. 272,398-399) At this period of time, which was just a month after he had made his Will, there is no question but that Nathan Chugg was competent and even plaintiff's witnesses admit that this is so. (Tr. 32,60, 65,99,100,118,120,149,150,231)

The agreement that was made in the month of August, 1956, with Dale Chugg, was that when Nathan was able to make arrangements for Dale to live on the farm, Nathan would live with them at the farm and they would take care of Nathan as long as Nathan was there; that Nathan would take the income until he was 65 years of age and upon Nathan Chugg reaching the age of 65 he would be eligible for Social Security and thereafter all of the income would go to Dale. However, Nathan was to have the right to stay on the place as long as he lived. Because Dale could not move onto the home at that time, due to the fact that Nathan was caring for his 91 year old mother at the home and had done so for over 40 years, Dale was to receive the sum of \$175.00 per month which was to take care of his necessary expenses with his family as Dale was married and had a child. (Tr. 396-397,268) From the \$175.00 per month in cash that Dale was to receive as wages, Dale was to pay the grocery bills for Nathan and for Dale's family and other household expenses. (Tr. 398,416)

Both parties agreed to this contract and Dale started work under this arrangement in August, 1956, with the understanding that the agreement would be reduced to writing in order to protect Dale. (Tr. 398,268-269) This agreement was not immediately reduced to writing because Nathan Chugg said that he would have it done as soon as he went to his accountant for his income tax matters; that he thought he would be able to save some money by having his accountant do it. (Tr. 404)

Dale Chugg, at the time he commenced performing under the oral agreement, took two of his own cows to Nathan Chugg's farm together with a flock of chickens. (Tr. 441-442-443) All of the milk from Dale's cows was co-mingled with that of Nathan's cows for which Dale received no compensation, but which increased Nathan's receipts on a Grade "A" basis approximately \$300.00 to \$400.00 per month. (Tr. 443)

Under this agreement, Dale Chugg went upon the farm and did everything he had agreed to do under the proposal submitted to him by Nathan Chugg and agreed upon by himself as heretofore set out.

Dale Chugg and family did not move into the farm home with Nathan Chugg immediately because Nathan's 91 year old mother was living with Nathan at that time and Nathan said that he would like to have Dale move in with him as soon as he could make the arrangements for Dale. Nathan was going to talk to the family and try to get one of them to take care of his mother, because he said that he had taken care of her for 40 years and he felt like it was their turn to care for her for awhile. (Tr. 397,265) Zenia Chugg, Nathan's mother, was not nudged



out of the home as has been suggested by appellants.

On January 22, 1957, after Zenia Chugg, Nathan's mother, had moved from the home to be later placed in a rest home on State Welfare by Nathan's seven brothers and sisters, (Tr. 43-44,59) Dale, his wife, LaReta and infant daughter moved into the old Chugg farm home to reside with Nathan (Tr. 404). On January 29, 1957, as Nathan Chugg was not feeling well, Dale Chugg drove him into Ogden to see Nathan's doctor, Dr. Irvan Moncrief. Dr. Moncrief suggested that Nathan be taken to the hospital for some tests to be made and asked Nathan if everything was in order so that he could go to the hospital for a few days and Nathan answered, "Well, all but my income tax, I have got to get those taken care of." (Tr. 405) Nathan returned to his home in Farr West, gathered his records together and returned to his accountant, Mr. H. E. Erickson, (Tr. 405) The accountant, Mr. H. E. Erickson, is referred to in the transcript as Helm, Helmer, Hilmer and Elmer, and had known Nathan since boyhood, (Tr. 635) and had prepared Nathan's tax returns since 1947. (Tr. 636) Nathan Chugg went over his books and records with Mr. H. E. Erickson and provided Mr. Erickson with information so that Mr. Erickson could prepare the tax return and then Nathan instructed Mr. Erickson to make a Deed or other papers necessary to transfer Nathan's property—whatever farm property he had, buildings, cows and things of that sort, from Nathan to Dale. (Tr.647,637,628,629,630,652) Mr. Erickson's son, Eldred, was present at this time. Mr. Erickson informed Nathan that this type of work was out of Mr. Erickson's line and that Nathan would have to see an at-

torney about this. (Tr.406,628) Nathan instructed Mr. Erickson to obtain an attorney to take care of this matter and asked Mr. Erickson to instruct the attorney to prepare the necessary papers to transfer Nathan's property to Dale. (Tr. 628-629-630) Mr. Erickson said that he would have it taken care of and would bring the Deed or other papers to the hospital for Nathan to sign and Nathan said, "That will be okay." (Tr. 406) When Nathan was asked by Mr. Erickson about the terms or price for Nathan's property that was to be conveyed to Dale, Nathan replied, "Just anything to make it legal." (Tr. 406) In the opinions of Mr. H. E. Erickson and Eldred Erickson, Nathan Chugg was mentally competent at that time. (Tr.637, 629)

Dale Chugg took Nathan Chugg to the St. Benedict's Hospital and returned to Mr. Erickson's office and the son of Mr. H. E. Erickson, whose name is Eldred, but who is referred to in the transcript by the reporter as Elgreed and Delbert, took Dale to the office of an attorney, George B. Handy, whose office was in the same building as that of the accountants. Mr. Eldred Erickson instructed attorney Handy that Nathan Chugg wanted Mr. Handy to make a deed or some instrument to transfer the property from Nathan to Dale Chugg. (Tr. 628-629-630,652)

Although Nathan Chugg had requested Mr. H. E. Erickson to prepare a deed transferring the farm and other property from Nathan to Dale, and had instructed Mr. Erickson to instruct the attorney to prepare such a deed, attorney Handy decided that a ten (10) year Option to purchase would be sufficient protection for Dale Chugg and in keeping with the intentions of Nathan Chugg and

would be fair to both parties. (Tr. 652-653)

On January 29, 1957, Mr. Handy prepared an Option for Dale to purchase the four (4) parcels of land referred to in appellants' Brief, reserving a life estate in Zenia V. Chugg to the property that she had a life estate in and "including all water and water rights, farm implements and livestock now upon said premises and appurtenant thereto." Dale took the Option to the St. Benedict's Hospital on the next day and read it to Nathan Chugg at which time Nathan said that it was satisfactory and that it would protect Dale. (Tr. 407) On January 31st, 1959, in the afternoon of that day, (Tr. 536) attorney Handy together with his brother, J. Donald Handy, met Dale Chugg by appointment at the St. Benedict's Hospital where attorney Handy was introduced to Nathan Chugg and attorney Handy read the Option to Nathan Chugg in its entirety and asked Nathan, "Do you understand this?" Nathan replied that he did and attorney Handy then said, "I want you to understand that if you sign this that Dale Chugg has, within a 10 years period, to exercise his Option and require you to give him a Deed and he would be legal owner as mentioned in this Option." Nathan replied, "That's what I want." (Tr. 408,656) Attorney Handy then said, "I've left a blank space to put in some sum, what sum do you want put in?" Nathan Chugg said he didn't want anything, he wanted to give Dale the farm and attorney Handy said, "Well, I've left a blank space, we can put something in—\$1.00, \$20.00, \$1,000.00, \$10,000.00." Nathan Chugg asked Dale Chugg, "Would \$1,000.00 be all right?" and Dale Chugg said, "Yes." Attorney Handy then wrote in the figures "\$1,000.00" and presented the Option

to Nathan Chugg for signing which he did. (Defendants' Exhibit Six) (Tr.656-657) J. Donald Handy then signed as a witness and the date, the 31st of January, 1957, was filled in the space provided and the instrument was notarized by attorney Handy. Dale Chugg then gave Nathan Chugg \$10.00 in currency as the Option provided, "\$1.00, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged." (Tr.661, 557,409) At this time, in the opinion of Dale Chugg, Attorney George B. Handy and J. Donald Handy, Nathan G. Chugg was mentally competent. (Tr. 657-658,494,410) This Option was recorded in the Weber County Recorder's Office.

On February 7th, 1957, a period of seven (7) days after the Option was signed, Nathan Chugg underwent an operation on his bladder and a tube was inserted into the bladder for drainage of urine. (Tr. 411) This operation was performed only after his personal physician, Dr. Irven Moncrief, had ascertained that Nathan was capable of giving his consent to said operation and had in fact given such consent and was mentally competent. (Tr. 454-455)

Nathan Chugg was released from St. Benedict's Hospital on February 24th, 1957, and was returned to his farm in Farr West, Weber County, Utah, and remained there until the middle of May, 1957.

During this time he carried on his own business, (Tr. 439) wrote his own checks, paid his own accounts (Tr. 39) (Defendant's Exhibit One) Balanced his own checking account (Tr.438) and at Plain City Dairy Days which was May 15th, 1957, Nathan met and talked with several of his friends who attest to his being mentally competent at that time. (Tr. 243-244,485-486-487,338,507,625,626)

In the middle of May, 1957, Mr. A. W. Cheney, a real estate agent, was calling from door to door getting listings on farms and he called at Nathan Chugg's farm to see about a listing on that farm. At that time, Nathan declined to list the farm and told Mr. Cheney that he didn't want to list the place because he had signed an Option with Dale Chugg and that if Dale would take care of the place and him and take care of the livestock that Nathan was going to let Dale have it for the price of \$1,000.00. Nathan said this sum would take care of his burial expenses. (Tr. 296-297) There was other conversation in which Nathan Chugg discussed his cattle, their pedigrees, and the mutual relatives of Mr. Cheney and Mr. Chugg. In Mr. Cheney's opinion, Nathan Chugg was mentally competent on this occasion. (Tr. 398)

During this time that Nathan Chugg was at the old farm home living with Dale Chugg, Dale Chugg besides taking care of all of the milking of the cows and other farm work, took care of the personal needs of Nathan Chugg, including caring for the urine bag that Nathan had to carry with him, cleaning the wound in the abdomen and placing dressings upon said wound and bathing Nathan Chugg.

The later part of May, 1957, Nathan Chugg was returned to the St. Benedict's Hospital in Ogden for the closure of the opening in his abdomen and the removal of the tube in the bladder. He was released from St. Benedict's Hospital on June 23, 1957. (See Hospital Record).

On June 24th, 1957, attorney Handy, was requested by Dale Chugg to come to the Chugg farm and was informed that Nathan was going to go to the Veterans'

Hospital in Salt Lake City and wanted to execute a deed to the property.

Upon arriving at the farm attorney Handy asked Nathan if he wanted to execute a Deed giving Dale the property. Nathan said that he did. (Tr. 659) This Deed (defendants' Exhibit Four) was executed in the presence of Dale Chugg, LaReta Chugg and George B. Handy. Nathan then executed the Bill of Sale, (defendants' Exhibit Five) to the cows and other personal property upon the farm and belonging to Nathan Chugg. This Bill of Sale was executed in the presence of the same witnesses. (Tr. 420-421, 660-661) The Deed and Bill of Sale were delivered to Dale Chugg by Nathan Chugg at which time Dale Chugg gave Nathan consideration as recited in the instruments. (Tr. 660-661) On this day, June 24, 1957, Nathan Chugg was mentally competent. (Tr. 662-663)

The Deed and Bill of Sale referred to above which was executed on June 24, 1957, each bore a date February ....., 1957. This Deed and this Bill of Sale had been prepared by attorney Handy in February, 1957, because Nathan Chugg had, in the beginning, requested that a Deed be prepared and Mr. Handy had prepared one to have in readiness in the event that after Nathan Chugg returned from the hospital, Nathan Chugg still wanted to give Dale Chugg a Deed to Nathan Chugg's property. (Tr. 658-659)

In the event that there was litigation in the future instigated by the brothers and sisters of Nathan Chugg, Mr. Handy informed Dale Chugg that it would be better if another Deed were procured because the Deed executed June 24, 1957, bore the date of February ....., 1957, which Mr. Handy did not want to erase or scratch out in order

to insert the date of execution and also it was desirable to have other witnesses to the execution of the Deed other than attorney Handy, Dale and LaReta Chugg. (Tr.663)

On July 17, 1957, attorney Handy, Dale and LaReta Chugg drove from Ogden, to Salt Lake City, Utah, to the Veterans' Hospital where Nathan Chugg was a patient. This was the Veterans' Hospital on Twelfth Avenue. Attorney Handy, and Dale and LaReta Chugg arrived at this hospital at approximately 2:30 or 3:00 o'clock p.m., on that day. (Tr. 664) Dale and LaReta Chugg went into Nathan Chugg's room and Mr. Handy went into the office directly across the hall from Nathan's room to ascertain what the health of Nathan was at that time and to see if some of the hospital personnel who were acquainted with Nathan would act as witnesses to the signing of the Deed. Mr. Handy was informed that it was against hospital policy for the personnel to act as witnesses to any legal instruments executed in the hospital. (Tr. 665) Attorney Handy discussed Nathan Chugg's condition with a Dr. Neely who was present and was informed by Dr. Neely that the Dr. Wilson who was in charge of Nathan Chugg was absent and Dr. Neely was not acquainted with Nathan Chugg well enough to give an opinion as to his competency to execute a legal instrument. Dr. Neely declined to act as a witness informing Mr. Handy that it was against hospital policy for personnel of the hospital to take any stand to indicate whether a person was competent or incompetent and to act as witnesses. (Tr. 665-666) Attorney Handy then went into Nathan Chugg's room where Dale Chugg informed Mr. Handy that he had explained to Nathan their purpose in being there. Attor-

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